### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 01-890

### FLOYD THOMAS ROBERTSON,

Petitioner,

-VS-

### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF
FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1958

MANUEL ALVAREZ Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0606197

## Counsel for Petitioner

#

### **INTRODUCTION**

The Petitioner, Floyd Thomas Robertson, was the appellant in the district court of appeal and the defendant in the Circuit Court. The Respondent, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the district court of appeal, and the prosecution in the Circuit Court. In this brief, the symbol "R." will be used to designate the record on appeal and the symbol "T." shall denote the transcript of the trial proceedings below.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Robertson was charged by information with one count of second degree murder (R. 1). This case arose from the shooting death of his girlfriend, Maria Nelson, in the bedroom of their apartment. The main factual issue at trial was whether the shooting was an accident.

On November 17, 1996, at 7:50 P.M. Officer Dominguez was dispatched to the apartment which Mr. Robertson and Maria shared to investigate an accidental shooting (T. 287). In the bedroom of the apartment, the officer saw Maria Nelson strewn on the bed. On the floor, about five feet from the bed, was a handgun with a bullet clip next to it (T. 293). Maria was still conscious and breathing, but uncommunicative. Dominguez ripped her shirt open and found an entrance wound in the chest and an exit wound in the middle of her back (T. 295-96). The officer applied a towel to the entrance wound in order to stop the bleeding (T. 297). While Dominguez attended to Maria, Mr. Robertson said that he had gone shooting with his son and the gun went off (T. 300). Officer Dominguez testified that Mr. Robertson appeared distraught, "nervous and very upset" (T. 314-15).

Officer Zirio, who was in training at the time, was assigned the task of writing the police report. He sat at a table next to the defendant. Mr. Robertson, as described by the officer, was very nervous and stated repeatedly that it had been an

accident (T. 268-69). Mr. Robertson kept reiterating that he had returned from the Everglades, where he had gone shooting with his son. He said that Maria asked him to show her the gun he had used. When he went to show her the .40 caliber Ruger, it discharged accidentally and struck her (T. 270). Officer Regina Cure also heard the defendant explain that when he returned from the Everglades, Maria asked to see the gun he had used. The defendant removed the weapon from the closet and was showing her how it worked when the gun discharged (T. 337).

Shirley Baumgartner worked for Maria Nelson, who managed the "Cabana Club Apartments" — which is also where she lived with the defendant (T. 360). Ms. Baumgartner testified that on November 17 Maria seemed upset (T. 366). Maria asked her to stay after work and later they had an hour-long conversation (T. 365). The prosecutor asked her if the conversation involved Maria's personal life and whether this had been the most personal conversation she had ever had with Maria (T. 368). The prosecutor also asked if the conversation concerned Maria's relationship with the defendant, to which the court sustained the defense's objection (T. 369). The court allowed the witness to testify that Maria had expressed she was unhappy in her relationship with Mr. Robertson (T. 381).

Maria Serrano was a tenant of the Cabana Club Apartments and lived in a unit directly beneath the apartment where Mr. Robertson and the victim resided (T.

383-84). Between 6:30 and 7:00 P.M. Mrs. Serrano and her husband heard "running" noises coming from the defendant's apartment (T. 386). They also heard five or six thumps against the wall, which Mrs. Serrano characterized as sounding as though someone was being thrown against a wall (T. 387). Forty-five minutes later, Mr. Serrano reported hearing a gunshot, but Mrs. Serrano did not hear it (T. 388, 391). On cross-examination, however, Mrs. Serrano's time-frame collapsed. On direct, she explained that she and her husband heard running and thumping sounds coming from the defendant's apartment between 6:30 and 7:00 P.M.. About fortyfive minutes to an hour later, her husband heard a shot. Yet when asked at what time Mr. Serrano heard the shot, she testified that it was 6:45 P.M. (T. 393). Mr. Serrano stated on cross-examination, that he was not sure whether the noises and the gunshot came from inside the defendant's apartment, or outside the apartment (T. 402-3).

At 7:45 P.M. Connie Alvarado was standing on the balcony outside her apartment, which faced the balcony of the defendant's apartment (T. 406, 416). She saw the defendant sitting in the corner of the balcony, he eventually got up and went to the sliding glass door. She saw Mr. Robertson waiving his arms, he then entered the apartment and a few minutes later Maria walked out on the balcony. Shortly thereafter, Maria re-entered the apartment at which point Ms. Alvarado

heard a gunshot (T. 406-15).

Detective Chavarry interviewed Mr. Robertson at the police station. According to the defendant's statement, earlier that day he and his son went shooting in the Everglades. They took several firearms with them (T. 491-92). Later, after leaving his son with his ex-wife, the defendant returned to the apartment at about 6:45 P.M. (T. 494). When he arrived, Maria was upset because he had arrived late. Id. The defendant mentioned that Maria was jealous of his ex-wife and his relationship with his son (T. 495). Mr. Robertson explained to the Detective that he retrieved the Ruger from the closet in order to clean it (T. 496). Meanwhile, Maria was sitting on the edge of the bed facing him. *Id.* He said that they were in the midst of a discussion, but the conversation was calm in tone (T. 497). Mr. Robertson took the gun case out of the closet; he started to unzip the case when a magazine fell to the floor. As he bent over to pick it up, the gun accidentally discharged (T. 498-99).

The pathologist determined that the projectile entered the victim's chest and traveled along a downward path (T. 639-40, 658-59). According to a crime scene expert, the trajectory of the bullet, in conjunction with the victim's injuries, indicated that she was sitting on the bed when she was shot (T. 459).

Steven Angene, the defendant's friend, testified that he and Mr. Robertson

shared a common interest in guns. They had gone target shooting on several occasions and he knew the defendant to be knowledgeable about firearms and gun safety (T. 568-73). Mr. Angene owned the Ruger, which he had loaned it to the defendant six weeks prior to the incident (T. 568-70). On one occasion, Mr. Angene saw the Ruger on the table at the defendant's apartment (T. 585). He noticed that it was loaded and had a bullet in the chamber. He unloaded the gun and observed that the barrel was very dirty (T. 585-86).

A few days after his arrest, Mr. Robertson called Steven Angene from jail (T. 590). The defendant explained that a few nights before the incident high winds were blowing against the front door of the apartment and it sounded as if someone was trying to break in (T. 591). The defendant got out of bed and went to check the front door with the Ruger. At that time, he had the hammer pulled back in the firing position. Id. He placed the gun back in its case with the hammer in the same position (T. 592). The defendant told Angene that on the date of the incident he had gone shooting with his son, but according to Angene Mr. Robertson indicated they had only used a .22 caliber weapon (T. 592-93). Mr. Robertson said that while having a discussion with Maria he went to the closet and removed the Ruger from its case; when he tried to extract the magazine it accidentally fired (T. 593). Mr. Angene stated that the defendant had previously had problems removing the

magazine from the gun (T. 612). At the end of the conversation, the defendant asked Mr. Angene not to tell the police about the difficulties between himself and the victim (T. 599). According to the witness, the defendant said that Maria wanted him to move out of the apartment (T. 616-17).

On cross-examination, Mr. Angene testified that the Ruger did not have a safety (T. 603-4). He also admitted that the Ruger had a light trigger and could discharge if dropped while the hammer was in the firing position (T. 609).

A firearms expert explained the mechanics of the Ruger. The gun involved in this case was a double action semi automatic. When the hammer is cocked, it only requires eight pounds of pressure on the trigger in order to fire (T. 679-80). Although the gun is not equipped with a traditional safety, it has a "de-cocker" such that when the gun is cocked a button will release the hammer without causing the weapon to discharge (T. 670).

Mr. Robertson took the stand. He testified that he worked as a hemodialyses therapist and that he used to work as an ambulance driver (T. 727-28). The day of the incident was a Sunday. At the time, he had been living with Maria for about three months. Mr. Robertson said that he got up early and went to pick up his son (T. 728-29). He and his son spent the day in the Everglades target shooting (T. 730-32). They used a .22 rifle, a .22 Ruger and a BB gun. Mr.

Robertson returned to the apartment between 4:30 and 5:00 P.M. and put the weapons away in the closet (T. 732). He dropped off his son at 6:30 P.M. and returned to the apartment, which was ten minutes away (T. 736). When he arrived at the apartment, Maria was in the bathroom changing out of her work clothes (T. 737). A short time later, they walked out on the terrace for a couple of minutes (T. 741-42). They were next in the kitchen preparing dinner. Maria poured herself a glass of wine and the mood was very casual (T. 741). Mr. Robertson then entered the bedroom closet in order to clean the firearms (T. 743). They had not had any arguments or discussions, only desultory chatter.

He was going to bring the guns to the living room and clean them while watching television. Maria entered the bedroom behind him and indicated that she wanted to order pizza, instead of cooking a meal (T. 745). At this point in time, Mr. Robertson was reaching for the Ruger, which was inside a gun case with a magazine inside the chamber and another in the case (T. 746). Unbeknownst to the defendant, the Ruger had been stored inadvertently with the hammer cocked (T. 753). He stepped out of the closet removing the gun from the case (T. 747). As he turned around, he lowered the gun in order to clear the side panel of the closet. While turning around, his finger slipped and hit the trigger causing the weapon to fire. *Id.* 

He heard a loud pop. At first he did not realize that Maria was hurt — he thought for a moment that she had simply laid down on the bed. He suddenly realized that she had been shot (T. 748). When he spoke to her she did not respond. Seeing that she was still breathing he checked her carotic pulse. He then called the 911 operator (T. 749). While waiting for paramedics, Mr. Robertson inspected the victim's wound to see if it was a "sucking chest wound" (T. 750). He lifted her up and detected blood on the back of her shirt. The defendant believed at the time that the injury was not fatal. The police arrived within minutes and Mr. Robertson was ordered to remain seated at the dinning room table (T. 751-52).

The defendant offered no testimony on direct which put his character at issue. Nevertheless, on cross-examination, the state questioned him about an unrelated prior incident involving an assault rifle. Despite the defendant's protestations about the impropriety of such evidence, the trial court allowed the prosecutor to inquire. The prosecutor asked the following questions:

- Q. [The State]: In fact, you are familiar with large assault rifles, weren't [sic] you?
- A. [Defendant]: Several models, yes sir.
- Q. [The State]: In fact, you purchased an AK-47, didn't you?

[Defense Counsel]: Objection, Judge. Irrelevant. It's outside the scope of direct.

[The Court]: Overruled.

Q. [The State]: Isn't that correct, Mr. Robertson?

A. [Defendant]: Yes, right after Hurricane Andrew I did.

Q. [The State]: And in fact, isn't it a fact that you have threatened people with assault rifles before?

[Defense Counsel]: Objection, Your Honor. Totally outside the scope.

[The Court]: Overruled. You can answer "yes" or "no", sir.

A. [Defendant]: No.

Q. [The State]: You have never threatened anyone close to you with an AK-47, Mr. Robertson?

A. [Defendant]: I have never threatened anybody close to me with a weapon, anybody, period, with a weapon, sir.

(T. 766-67).

After creating an issue concerning the AK-47, the state announced that it intended to call the defendant's ex-wife as a rebuttal witness. The trial court, over defense objection, allowed the ex-wife to testify about a prior incident which took place after Hurricane Andrew where the defendant allegedly threatened her with an assault rifle (T. 825-26). The defense objected on grounds of relevance and the

fact that it was tantamount to improper *Williams* rule evidence. *Id.* The trial court overruled the objection because during cross-examination the defendant denied that he threatened anyone close to him with an AK-47. Defense counsel renewed his objection and moved for a mistrial (T. 826).

The prosecution was permitted to call Susan Robertson, the defendant's exwife, as a witness. Ms. Robertson testified that after the hurricane, she and her daughter were carrying supplies off a truck (T. 829). The boxes containing the supplies were very heavy and when she told the defendant that they could not lift them, he became angry. According to the witness, the defendant went to the bedroom of their home where he kept an AK-47.

[Mrs. Robertson]: I had my back to him at that point. I heard a noise like the magazine being loaded into the AK-47 and I thought, my God, he is going to shoot me. I didn't know, and I just ran as fast as I could behind the front door and I looked behind me one time before I ran and he had the AK-47 pointed at my back.

(T. 831). On cross-examination, the witness testified that her marriage with the defendant ended after she caught him in bed with another woman (T. 832).

The prosecutor's closing argument maintained that the defendant had violent propensities based on the incident with his ex-wife. The prosecution postulated that the defendant shot the victim in anger because she asked him to move out.

[The State]: Now you have to figure in the rest of your story, the

anger, the fighting leading up to November 17th, the confrontation that was going to take place that night, her incredible fear of this man as told to Shirley Baumgartner, his anger.

For God sake, you saw his ex-wife on this witness stand because he lied to you on cross-examination about owning an AK-47 which is a huge assault rifle and threatening somebody close to you.

I asked him that question, and, boy, I gave him the opportunity. He could have said, yeah, there was this situation with my wife and, you know, I really didn't mean it, but no, I would never do that. I don't threaten anybody with guns, any type of guns, much less an AK-47.

So, Mrs. Robertson comes in here and tells you about a situation right after the hurricane where they were getting some building supplies and this defendant becomes enraged because mom and daughter can't help him bring in some heavy supplies from the car and what does he do? I am going to teach you a lesson. He goes back into the hallway, grabs the AK-47, slams a magazine, a clip into it and points it at her as she is running out the door and she thinks she is going to get shot in the back.

That gives you a little insight into what you are dealing with here.

(T. 913-14) (Emphasis added).

The jury convicted Mr. Robinson of second degree murder and the court sentenced him to life imprisonment (T. 950; R. 131, 134-38).

On direct appeal, the Third District reversed the defendant's conviction and remanded the case for a new trial holding that "the evidence of the incident occurring six years earlier was not relevant to any material fact in issue in the

current charge against the defendant." *Robertson v. State*, 780 So. 2d 94, 95 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). The court also concluded that the admission of the ex-wife's testimony under an impeachment theory was erroneous. The court re-visited the case *en banc* and subsequently reversed its original decision holding that the prior act evidence was properly admitted against the defendant. *Robertson v. State*, 780 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Despite the fact that the defendant did not put his character in issue, the prosecution cross-examined him regarding an incident which had taken place between the defendant and his ex-wife six years before the death of Maria Nelson. The prosecution asked if he had ever assaulted his former wife with an AK-47 rifle, which accusation the defendant denied. The prosecution subsequently called the defendant's ex-wife as a witness and she gave detailed testimony about the prior incident. The prosecutor compounded the prejudice when, during closing argument, he used the prior incident to allege propensity.

The Third District's opinion contradicts long-standing precedents which hold that the state cannot circumvent the requirements of Section 90.404(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1998), by asking improper questions on cross-examination concerning a prior wrongful act for the purpose of admitting the evidence under the guise of impeachment. The appellate court's determination that the defendant opened the door to the collateral evidence by denying his guilt is completely unsupported by the record and was contrary to law.

Moreover, the record in this case cannot support the Third District's conclusion that the prior assault was inevitably admissible as *Williams* rule evidence because the trial court never conducted the factual and legal analysis required

for the admission of collateral crimes evidence. The Third District's flawed rationale opens the door to improper character evidence in all future cases where the claim of accident is raised as a defense.

### **ARGUMENT**

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THAT COLLATERAL EVIDENCE OF A PRIOR ASSAULT AGAINST SOMEONE OTHER THAN THE VICTIM, WHICH OCCURRED SIX YEARS BEFORE THE SHOOTING IN THIS CASE AND WHICH WAS INTRODUCED VIA IMPROPER QUESTIONING ON CROSS-EXAMINATION, CONTRADICTED WELL-ESTABLISHED PRECEDENTS IN FLORIDA LAW.

The majority's holding turns on the erroneous premise that the defendant opened the door to evidence of prior wrongful acts by negatively answering the prosecution's question about whether he had ever threatened anyone with an assault rifle.

The defendant testified he never threatened anyone with a gun. Clearly this statement was intended to buttress his theory of defense and his contention that he shot Maria by mistake while "cleaning" the gun. Having testified that he had never threatened anyone with a gun, the defendant opened the door to questioning about the prior incident where he had threatened his ex-wife with a gun. With the door open, it was then permissible for the State to impeach the defendant's statements and to show that he was not being truthful on the stand

Robertson v. State, 780 So. 2d 106, 110 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001) (citations omitted). The key point in this case, which the majority ignored, was that the defendant's denial that he had threatened anyone with a firearm was in response to improper questioning by the state.

After the defendant admitted during cross-examination that he was familiar with firearms, the state inquired if he had ever threatened anyone close to him with an AK-47 assault rifle. The defendant's denial was then used as a crowbar to pry open the evidentiary door to the six-year old incident involving his former spouse. In his dissenting opinion, Judge Sorondo observed that "[t]his question is exactly the same as asking, '... isn't it a fact that you have committed aggravated assaults in the past?' Florida law is clear that such a question is forbidden, see Fulton v. State, 335 So.2d 280 (Fla.1976); Watson v. Campbell, 55 So.2d 540, 541 (Fla.1951) ("[E]vidence of particular acts of misconduct cannot be introduced to impeach the credibility of a witness."), unless the defendant *preliminarily* opens the door to that area of inquiry by placing his character at issue, by purposely giving misleading or untruthful testimony during his direct examination, or by doing so in an unsolicited manner during cross-examination. See Bozeman v. State, 698 So.2d 629 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)." Robertson, 780 So. 2d at 114.

The "opening the door" concept comes into play only when a party offers testimony which is favorable to that party, but creates a misleading impression, or is deceptive in nature. In other words, if a defendant attempts to deceive the jury, or presents only partial testimony about a subject matter creating a misleading picture, the state may present evidence to counteract the deception. It is presup-

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