IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-890

FLOYD THOMAS ROBERTSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0239437 Office of the Attorney General 110 S.E.  $6^{TH}$  Street, 9<sup>th</sup> Floor Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 PH. (954) 712-4600 FAX (954) 712 4761

##

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The opinion of the Third District which was joined by a majority of the Court is that the ex-wife's testimony concerning Defendant's prior armed threat against her was proper other crimes evidence since it was relevant to established that Defendant's shooting of his wife was intentional and not accidental. This holding is not in conflict with *Williams v. State*, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959) or any cases decided thereunder.

Further, the impeachment dicta is not a proper basis for this Court's jurisdiction since it is not the holding of the case and any ruling thereon by this Court would merely be an unauthorized advisory opinion. Thus, jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

Assuming the impeachment dicta is properly before the Court, no error occurred by allowing the challenged impeachment. The Defendant testified he never threatened anyone with a gun. This statement was intended to buttress his theory of defense and his contention that he shot his wife by mistake while cleaning the gun. Having testified that he had never threatened anyone with a gun, Defendant opened the door to questioning about the prior incident where he had threatened his ex-wife with a gun. With the door opened, it was then permissible for the State to impeach Defendant's statements and to show that he was not being truthful on the stand.

#### ARGUMENT

## I.

WHETHER THE EN BANC DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT WHICH HELD THAT DEFENDANT'S EX-WIFE'S REBUTTAL DEFENDANT TESTIMONY THAT HAD THREATENED HER WITH A GUN DURING A DOMESTIC DISPUTE WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED AS OTHER CRIMES EVIDENCE WHERE THE DEFENDANT'S DEFENSE TO THE SHOOTING DEATH OF HIS PRESENT WIFE WAS THAT IT WAS UNINTENTIONAL AND WAS THE RESULT OF AN ACCIDENTAL DISCHARGE WAS CORRECT?

The opinion of the Third District which was joined by a majority of the Court is that the ex-wife's testimony concerning Defendant's prior armed threat against her was proper *Williams* rule evidence since it was relevant to established that Defendant's shooting of his wife was intentional and not accidental. The State submits that this holding is not in conflict with *Williams v. State*, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959) or any cases decided thereunder. Further, the impeachment dicta is not a proper basis for this Court's jurisdiction since it is not the holding of the case and any ruling thereon by this Court would merely be an unauthorized advisory opinion. Thus, jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

The Defendant's ex-wife testified on rebuttal that Defendant had threatened her with a loaded gun during a domestic dispute. This evidence was admissible as relevant under Section 90.404(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1997), which provides:

Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

It is well established that evidence is admissible if it is relevant to prove a material fact at issue, and if it is not precluded by a specific rule of exclusion. See § 90.402(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997); Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla.1984); Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.1959).

The test for relevancy is whether such evidence "casts light upon the character of the act under investigation by showing motive, intent, absence of mistake, common scheme, identity or a system or general pattern of criminality so that the evidence of the prior offenses would have a relevant or a material bearing on some essential aspect of the offense being tried." *Williams v. State*, 110 So.2d at 662.

Here, the critical issue at trial was whether Defendant accidentally shot his wife. Since there were no eyewitnesses to the shooting, the credibility of Defendant and his story, were crucial to the outcome of the case. *Duffey v. State*, 741 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999). The evidence that Defendant had previously threatened someone close to him during a domestic dispute with a firearm, directly related to the central issue of

Defendant's claim that he was cleaning the gun which accidentally discharged while arguing with his wife, as opposed to threatening his wife with the gun when she was shot and killed.

Since intent is often the most difficult element to prove in an unwitnessed crime where the victim is dead, evidence reflecting on Defendant's intent is clearly probative with regard to a claim of accidental shooting. The ex-wife's testimony that Defendant threatened her with a gun during a domestic dispute tends to negate the likelihood that the shooting was accidental. The prior incident admitted into evidence through the ex-wife's rebuttal testimony involved significant similarities to the facts of this case. Τn both incidents, Defendant chose to use a semi-automatic weapon, which requires the weapon to be cocked with safety off and loaded in order to be fired. Both incidents involved a woman with whom the defendant was having an intimate relationship. Both incidents involved acts of violence taking place in a relationship context and circumstances involving domestic disputes. Thus the ex-wife's testimony was relevant in ascertaining Defendant's motive and intent with regard to the claim that his present wife's shooting was accidental.

Inasmuch as the ex-wife's testimony was relevant, its admission into evidence can be precluded only by a specific rule of exclusion. In this regard, the trial court has broad discretion not only in determining the relevance of evidence, but also in

determining whether its probative value outweighs any prejudicial effect, thereby rendering such evidence admissible. See § 90.403, Fla. Stat. (1997); Rodriguez v. State, 753 So.2d 29 (Fla.2000); Williamson v. State, 681 So.2d 688 (Fla.1996). Such a determination will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Heath v. State, 648 So.2d 660 (Fla.1994). Keeping these standards in mind, the Third District correctly determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting this evidence.

Section 90.404(2)(a) prohibits the introduction of similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts, where such evidence is relevant *solely* to prove bad character or to show the defendant possesses a propensity for criminal behavior. Section 90.404(2)(a) specifically allows the admissibility of similar fact evidence to prove a material fact in issue, such as "intent" and "absence of mistake or accident." Accordingly, a trial judge has the discretion to admit similar fact evidence when it is relevant as to a non-character aspect in the case.

Here, the evidence of a threat against a previous partner involving a gun had the purpose of assisting the jury to understand Defendant's conduct at the time of the shooting with regard to Defendant's intent and his claim of accident. The evidence was admitted for the appropriate purpose of showing Defendant's motive and intent at the time of the shooting he claims was accidental.

Duffey v. State, 741 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999).

In Duffey, the defendant was charged with second degree murder of Deborah Helenius which occurred on October 6, 1966. The defendant's theory of defense was that Helenius, after an unsatisfactory consensual encounter with the defendant, started hitting the defendant in the face and chest and bit his finger. During the attack, the defendant grabbed Helenius by her neck and pushed her up against the wall, but she continued to assault her. He then claimed she suddenly passed out and he could not resuscitate her. The defendant after determining that she was dead, panicked because he thought that because of his prior record no one would believe him that the death was accidental. Defendant then disposed of the body. During trial Maria Cicocca testified about a prior attack the defendant perpetrated on her. Cicocca testified that she met the defendant on June 30, 1984 when she accepted a ride from him. When in the car defendant asked for a kiss and she kissed him on the cheek and then on the lips. Cicocca refused to do anything further and starting to get out of the car. The defendant pulled her back into the car and forced her to shut the door. He then placed his hands around her neck and started to strangle her. Fortunately, Cicocca was able to ultimately get away from the defendant.

On appeal the defendant challenged the admissibility of Cicocca's testimony as improper similar fact evidence. The Fourth

District rejected this challenge finding it was relevant to rebut his claim of accident. The court found the testimony relevant because the defense at trial was that defendant accidently choked the victim to death and the defendant's testimony was the only eyewitness account. Therefore, Cicocca's testimony of the prior attack was probative of defendant's state of mind during he attack on Helenius, the victim who did not survive.

The Duffey court based its holding its prior case of Rossi v. State, 416 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1982) that held that similar fact evidence is admissible if probative of a defendant's mental condition, when that mental condition is material to an issue at trial. In Rossi, a defendant charged with kidnapping, sexual battery, and attempted second degree murder contended that his actions were the result of an isolated and temporary breakdown. The Court held that the jury was entitled to know that the defendant engaged in virtually the identical conduct on a prior occasion because evidence of the defendant's mental state during the earlier attack was relevant at his trial for the more recent attack.

The Fourth District then recognized that this Court approved of *Rossi* in *Street v. State*, 636 So.2d 1297 (Fla 1994). In *Street*, this Court sustained the admission of another crime to rebut the defense of voluntary intoxication. The defendant was on trial for shooting and killing two police officers after they confronted him

about a disturbance at a trailer park. During a struggle, the defendant took one officer's gun and shot both of the officers. The defendant claimed that he was so intoxicated through the use of cocaine that he was unable to form the specific intent to commit first degree murder. On rebuttal, the state called Officer DeCarlo who testified that on another occasion he and a fellow officer attempted to arrest the defendant for disorderly conduct; the defendant resisted and tried to pull DeCarlo's gun out of his holster. DeCarlo was able to hold on to his pistol and the officers subdued the defendant. DeCarlo testified that the defendant was not under the influence of cocaine. This Court held that DeCarlo's testimony of an encounter similar to defendant's involvement with the officers in the case before the Court was admissible in rebuttal of the contention that the defendant's actions were the result of the influence of cocaine.

Herein, just as the aborted attempt at stealing DeCarlo's weapon was probative of the defendant's intent in the completed murders in *Street* and the interrupted attack on Cicocca relevant to the defendant's state of mind in the completed murder of Helenius in *Duffey*, so was Defendant's prior armed threat against his exwife probative to Defendant's state of mind in the completed murder of his present wife.

The relevance of the ex-wife's rebuttal testimony regarding the prior armed assault is not affected by the remoteness doctrine.

This incident occurred during the clean up after Hurricane Andrew which places it sometime shortly after August 1992. The present incident occurred on September 16, 1996 a mere 4 year hiatus between incidents. Remoteness is not determined by the passage of time alone but the effect of the passage of time on the evidence. Remoteness in terms of the passage of time precludes the use of evidence that has become unverifiable through the loss of memory, unavailability of witnesses and the like. *Heuring v. State*, 513 So.2d 122 (Fla. 1987). Here the passage of time is a only 4 years and the ex-wife was available and certain in her testimony. Thus, the remoteness aspect of the relevancy of the similar fact evidence is not at issue herein.

The fact that the State failed to give the Defendant the 10 days notice required by § 90.404 (2) (b), Fla. Stat. (1997) does not preclude admissibility of the similar fact evidence if the Defendant was not surprised or prejudiced therefrom. *State v. Paille*, 601 So.2d 1321, 1324 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). In *Paille*, the State introduced evidence of other sexual acts engaged in by the defendant. The State failed to provide notice of intent to offer similar fact evidence at trial. The trial court granted a new trial on the ground that it had erred by admitting similar fact evidence. The Court, after finding the similar fact evidence relevant, reversed. The State's failure to provide notice of its intent to offer similar fact evidence at trial did not

automatically prevent its use. Rather, the Court, citing to Garcia v. State, 521 So.2d 191 (Fla 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1988), held that the lack of notice is subject to harmless error analysis. The Court found that since defense counsel took the victim's deposition prior to trial, at which she testified to the similar acts in question, that the defendant failed to establish actual prejudice or unfair surprise. See also Davis v. State, 537 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1989). Therefore, the admission of the similar fact evidence was harmless error in spite of the State's failure to give notice under § 90.404(2)(b)1. Barbee v. State, 630 So.2d 655(Fla 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994) (State's failure to strictly comply with the 10 day notice requirement with respect to similar fact evidence was not fatal per se to admissibility of that evidence and harmless error rule applied).

In the instant case, the ex-wife, Susan Robertson's deposition was also taken prior to trial. In this deposition, the ex-wife testified to the incident involving the Defendant threatening her with an AK-47, that she testified to at trial. The Defendant, therefore, was not prejudiced or surprised by this testimony. In fact, the Defendant used this deposition testimony in an attempt to impeach the ex-wife's credibility by asking her how her relationship with the Defendant ended, bringing out the fact that she caught him in bed with another woman. (T. 832). Thus, it is clear from the record that the Defendant knew about the prior AK-47

incident involving the wife and Defendant and therefore was not surprised or prejudiced therefrom. In the instant case, the failure to give notice of intent to introduce this evidence does not preclude its admissibility.

In accordance with the foregoing, the majority decision of the Third District that the ex-wife's rebuttal testimony of Defendant's prior armed assault was admissible similar fact evidence was a correct application of the facts to the law. As such this holding does not conflict with any decisions of this Court or any decisions of the other District Court's. Mancini v. State, 312 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1975) (The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review decisions of the district courts because of alleged conflict only when the decision (1) announces a rule of law which conflicts with a law previously announced by the Supreme Court or another district court, or (2) applies a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same facts as a prior Inasmuch as conflict does not exist with the en banc case.) holding, a ruling on by this Court on the impeachment dicta made by a minority of the judges of the Third District would be an unauthorized advisory opinion. Interlach Lakes Estates v. Brooks, 341 So.2d 993 (Fla. 1976) (The Supreme Court may render advisory opinions only to the governor.) Since conflict does not exist and there is no other valid basis for jurisdiction, review herein has been improvidently granted and the petition should be dismissed.

Salser v. State, 613 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1993).

The State does waive its position that review was improvidently granted on the similar fact holding and that jurisdiction does not exist independent thereof to review the impeachment dicta. However, the State will address the propriety of the impeachment dicta.

Florida Statute Section 90.608(5), provides that once a defendant takes the stand and testifies, he or she places credibility at issue and prosecutors are allowed to impeach that credibility with "proof by other witnesses that material facts are not as testified to by the witness being impeached." § 90.608(5), Fla. Stat. (1997); Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 608.1 at 385 (1997 ed.).

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